0.A.3-293 047 W/ap

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE

OCT. 19 1992
WHERE COURTS

Cincia Debuty Clerk

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 79,839 DCA Case No. 91-01332

TOM F. SAWYER,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

original

SUZANNE T. DALY Florida Bar No. 772887 Assistant County Attorney PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA 315 Court Street Clearwater, Florida 34616 (813) 462-3354 Attorney for PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Petitioner, Board of County Commissioners
Pinellas County will be referred to as the "County". The
Respondent will be referred to as an "acquitted or discharged
defendant".

Citations to the Appendix will be made by the letter "A" and the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from an Order of the Second District Court of Appeal holding that investigative costs are taxable costs within the meaning of Section 939.06, Florida Statutes (1989).

The Second District reversed the trial court ruling which denied Mr. Sawyer, who is a non-indigent discharged criminal defendant, the right of reimbursement from Pinellas County for the investigative costs he incurred in his defense. (A. 2). The Second District resolved the case under statutory interpretation and certified that its holding was in conflict with decisions of the Third and Fifth District Courts of Appeal. (A. 4) Pinellas County invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court and this Court accepted jurisdiction on September 23, 1992. (A. 10)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The sole issue before the court is whether the Second District properly found that an acquitted defendant's investigative costs are taxable costs subject to reimbursement by the County under Section 939.06, Florida Statutes (1989). Earlier decisions by the Third District and the Fifth District have held that investigative costs are not taxable costs.

The County asserts that the Second District fails to properly apply the concept of mutuality to the issue of reimbursement of investigative costs because the court failed to distinguish the County with its obligations and rights from city and state law enforcement agencies' obligations and rights. Under the Second District's reasoning, the result is inequitable and illogical because the County is liable for reimbursement based on the non-mutual investigative costs of non-county law enforcement agencies.

The Second District exceeded the reasonable scope of statutory authority by including investigative costs within the meaning of taxable costs. As a result, the County is burdened with incalculable and inequitable expenses which strain the already limited financial resources of the County.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CONCEPT OF MUTUALITY RELIED UPON BY THE SECOND DISTRICT FAILS WHEN PROPERLY APPLIED TO THE REIMBURSEMENT OF INVESTIGATIVE COSTS

In the instant case, the Second District relied upon the concept of mutuality in its analysis and conclusion that investigative costs are taxable costs under Section 939.06, Florida Statutes (1989). However, investigative costs are not mutual between the County and an acquitted defendant.

Section 939.06 authorizes the reimbursement of taxable costs to a non-indigent defendant who has been acquitted or discharged of criminal charges. Section 939.01 provides city, county or state law enforcement agencies with the right to request reimbursement of their investigative costs from a convicted defendant.

In the instant case, the Second District applied the mutuality concept in interpreting Section 939.06 to include investigative costs within the meaning of taxable costs. (A. 3). The Second District relied on the mutuality rationale in Powell v. State, 314 So.2d 788 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975). "Since under § 914.06 the county could tax the reasonable compensation of its expert witnesses as costs against a convicted defendant, we think that an acquitted, non-indigent defendant may do likewise against the county." Id. at 789.

It is critical to note that the mutuality concept enunciated by the court in <u>Powell</u> does not exist in the instant case. In this case, the analysis must be applied to the County vis-a-vis a discharged defendant with respect to city, county and state law

enforcement agencies' investigative costs.

The Second District failed to distinguish between the costs borne by the County on behalf of the state attorney and indigent defendant and those investigative costs incurred by city, county and/or state law enforcement agencies, which costs are borne by the appropriate city, county or state budgetary authority. The County is neither statutorily liable for nor legally able to tax as costs the investigative expenses of city or state law enforcement agencies under Section 939.01.

Statutory authority defines taxable costs as the costs of criminal proceedings which the County is mandated to pay state attorney or indigent behalf of the an §§27.34(2); 27.56; 914.06, 924.17, Fla. Stat. (1991). of criminal proceedings which the County is mandated to pay are. by law, subsequently taxed against a convicted defendant County. §§27.3455(1); 27.3455(4); reimbursement to the 37.3455(6)(a); 914.06; 939.01, Fla. Stat. (1991). These same costs are taxed against the County when borne by a non-indigent defendant who is acquitted or discharged. §§939.06; 939.07, Fla. Stat. (1991).

Similar to the statutory authority, Florida courts apply the concept of mutuality in determining taxable costs. For example, in <u>Wood v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 248 So.2d 176 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971), the First District held that the cost of an appellate trial transcript was a taxable cost. The court noted that the appellate rules required the County to pay the transcript cost for an indigent defendant. The rules also provided that the

County transcription costs could be taxed against a convicted defendant. The defendant prevailed on appeal and the trial court found that the transcript costs should be taxed in his favor under 939.06. <u>Lillibridge v. City of Miami</u>, 276 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1973).

Similarly in <u>Hayes v. State</u>, 387 So.2d 539 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), the Fifth District held that taxable costs include: the preparation and filing of the record on appeal; witness subpoena costs and mileage costs; the witness fee, and court reporter and deposition costs. Under a mutuality analysis, those costs found to be taxable against the County were also costs the County was required to tax against the defendant, if convicted. The costs analyzed in <u>Hayes</u> were enumerated in statutory sections 27.56; 914.06; 914.11, Florida Statutes (1979).

In <u>Powell</u>, the Second District explicitly based its decision on strict mutuality in holding that expert witness fees are taxable costs. <u>Powell</u> at 789. Conversely, the absence of strict mutuality is clear in those court decisions finding that certain items are not taxable costs under 939.06.

In <u>Doran v. State</u>, 296 So.2d 86 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974), the Second District denied reimbursement to the acquitted defendant for bail bond premiums and a towing fee. <u>Holton v. State</u>, 311 So.2d 711 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975); <u>Dinauer v. State</u>, 317 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975). These authorities reflect the proposition that absent the requirement that the County pay the costs for either the state attorney or an indigent defendant, and tax the costs against the convicted defendant, there is no basis for an

acquitted defendant to tax the same costs against the County.

In the instant case, the Second District held that the County is liable for an acquitted defendant's investigative costs because the 1987 amendment to Section 939.01 provides law enforcement agencies with a right to recover their investigative expenses from a convicted defendant. (A. 2). The court stated that "investigative costs represent a type of costs mutually borne by the prosecution and the defense." (A. 4). The court failed to recognize that the County and city or state law enforcement agencies are not the same entity. The County is a political subdivision of the State. City police departments and state departments of law enforcement are municipal and state agencies. Ch. 30; 321; 943, Fla. Stat. (1991).

It would be inequitable and illogical for the County to be required to reimburse an acquitted defendant for city or state law enforcement agencies investigative expenses, which the County does not pay and cannot tax as costs against a convicted defendant. Yet, the Second District's reasoning attempts to apply the mutuality concept to treat the County and city and state law enforcement agencies as one governmental entity, i.e., "the prosecutor." (A. 4). What the Second District fails to distinguish in its rationale is the critical fact that the County does not bear the burden of paying city or state law enforcement agencies' investigative costs.

In a criminal proceeding, the County is statutorily responsible for paying the state attorney's costs of prosecution

and the public defender/indigent defendant's costs of defense. §§27.34(2); 27.56; 914.06; 924.17, Fla. Stat. (1991). City and state law enforcement agencies bear their own investigative expenses. Because the County and city and state law enforcement agencies bear different costs, there is not a mutual relationship between the County's costs and an acquitted defendant's costs.

In fact, the 1987 statutory amendment to Section 939.01 does not grant the County the authority to tax and recover investigative costs for the benefit of the County. Rather, the amendment allows all law enforcement agencies the right to request the taxation and recovery of their investigative costs for the benefit of their agencies. §§ 939.01(1); 939.01(9), Fla. Stat. (1991). Therefore, because the County and the acquitted defendant do not share a mutual burden to pay and/or tax investigative costs, there can be no rational basis pursuant to the Second District's mutuality analysis to support the court finding that investigative costs are taxable costs.

II. THE SECOND DISTRICT UNREASONABLY EXTENDED THE DEFINITION OF TAXABLE COSTS UNDER SECTION 939.06 TO INCLUDE INVESTIGATIVE FEES

The Second Districts' treatment of investigative fees as taxable costs unreasonably strains the statutory scope of authority of Section 939.06 resulting in staggering expenses to the County, in direct contrast to the court's previous caveat in Doran.

In <u>Doran</u>, the Second District noted that there are many expenses which one may incur when facing criminal charges. Yet the court limited the definition of taxable costs to "only those

items reasonably within the scope of statutory authority." <u>Doran</u> at 87 (emphasis added). In <u>Doran</u>, the court did not broaden the scope of statutory authority under 939.06 to include bail bond premiums. The court stated that it was unwilling to impose upon the public, without specific legislative authority, "the staggering expense which would follow." <u>Id</u>.

However, in the instant case, the Second District unreasonably expanded the scope of statutory authority to include investigative costs among reimbursable taxable costs. The unavoidable result of the court's ruling is that the County will be burdened with the "staggering expense" cautioned against in Doran.

In the instant case, the Second District acknowledges that its holding increases the fiscal obligations of the government.

(A. 4) This acknowledgement and the court's holding directly contradicts the court's statement in <u>Doran</u> that it was unwilling to impose upon the public, without specific legislative authority, such "staggering expense."

Further, the Second District's reasoning fails when it concludes that had the legislature intended to exclude investigative costs, it would have expressed that intention through legislation subsequent to Powell. (A. 4) It is unreasonable for the Second District to interpret legislative inaction as a sign that the legislature intended to place an inequitable financial burden upon the County.

In sharp contrast to the Second District's reasoning, in Benitez v. State, 350 So.2d 1100 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), cert.

denied. 359 So.2d 1211 (Fla. 1978), the Third District disallowed recovery of investigative costs noting that such a recovery would "place an incalculable burden upon the State." Id. at 1102. The Third District stated that the reimbursement of investigative fees must be left to the legislature and that "judicial legislation" by the court would be improper. Id

Chief Judge Schoonover in his dissent in the instant case cites <u>Benitez</u>, stating that without the legislature expressly providing for the reimbursement of investigative fees, the requirement should not be read into the law. (A. 7). Clearly, the Second District's reasoning violates the well established principle of law that while courts construe and interpret the law, they do not make the laws and should not judicially legislate. <u>Hancock v. Board of Public Instruction of Charlotte County</u>, 158 So.2d 519, 522 (Fla. 1963).

III. THE THIRD DISTRICT AND THE FIFTH DISTRICT HAVE PROPERLY INTERPRETED SECTION 939.06 TO EXCLUDE INVESTIGATIVE COSTS.

In <u>Benitez</u>, the Third District held as a matter of law that investigative costs were not reimbursable taxable costs. <u>Benitez</u> at 1102. In <u>Osceola County v. Otte</u>, 530 So.2d 478 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), the Fifth District followed the ruling in <u>Benitez</u>. The 1987 statutory amendment to 939.01 was the law at the time the Fifth District rendered its decision in <u>Osceola County</u>.

In the instant case, the Second District discounts the Osceola County decision because it followed Benitez Without expressly considering the 1987 amendment to section 939.01. (A. 4). However, just as an individual is charged with knowledge of

the law, Louisville Drying Machine Co. et al. v. State, 17 So.2d 703, 704 (Fla. 1944), so too is a court presumed to have the same knowledge. Mitchum v. State, 251 So.2d 298, 300 F(Fla. 1st DCA 1971). Therefore, it is proper to assume that the Fifth District in Osceola County knew and considered the 1987 amendment when it ruled that investigative fees were not taxable costs.

The Second District stands alone in its reasoning, interpretation and conclusion that investigative costs taxable costs. Further, the Second District's position has created circumstance which unavoidably levies staggering inequitable expenses upon the limited and already strained financial resources of the County.

CONCLUSION

For all of the above stated reasons and based upon the above cited authority, Pinellas County requests that this Court quash the Second District Court of Appeal's decision and reinstate the trial court's order.