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

disbursements from the county fine and forfeiture funds, it is 

clear from the above referenced statutes and the 1885 

constitution that literal "mutuality" is in no way a determining 

factor for the use of the county as the administratively 

convenient bank account for either collection or disbursement of 

expenses related to the criminal justice system. Thus, for 
example, although the "Statelf pays the salaries of assistant 

public defenders, any funds collected by means of an attorneys' 

fee lien from a convicted defendant represented by the public 

defender's office go into the ItCountyt1 fine and forfeiture fund. 

Similarly, most fines go into this fund, although there is no 

specific reciprocal disbursement. Bail bond forfeitures also 

increase the amount in the county fine and forfeiture fund, 

without any county obligation for reimbursement of bail bond 

12 



premiums, for example, to the acquitted or discharged defendant. 

- See e.q. Doran v. State, 296 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974). In 

sum, the county fine and forfeiture funds serve merely to 

collect and disburse designated moneys at a local level, as an 

administrative convenience to the state. 

From the perspective of the citizen-accused, it is the 

Ilpublic'l in the name of the State of Florida that is the 

prosecuting agency, and it is the llpublicll which is entitled to 

reimbursement for prosecution costs if the accused is convicted. 

Conversely, if an individual has been wrongfully accused, it is 

the "public" to which the accused will look for reimbursement of 

those expenses of defense which the statutes encompass. To the 

acquitted or discharged defendant, the specific budget from 

which the public makes reimbursement is totally irrelevant. The 

Second District recognizes this reality: if a convicted 

defendant can be made to pay certain specific costs of his own 

(successful) prosecution, then an acquitted OK discharged 

defendant should be reimbursed for the analogous costs of his 

own (successful) defense. A county in this situation merely 

serves as a conduit for the funds of the "public." This Court 

has previously so held: the county, in the context of criminal 

litigation costs, is merely the designated governmental agency 

"chargeable with providing the payment of these costs and 

expenses" on behalf of "the government," State v .  Byrd, 378 So. 

2d 1231, 1232 (Fla. 1979). 

Ignoring the Second District's statement that it is 

13 



llresolv[ing] this case under statutory interpretation," Opinion 

at A 4, the County here attempts to recast the core issue as one 

of bookkeeping, by splitting the public's funds into its 

component bank accounts. Since the legislature itself uses the 

county fine and forfeiture funds for a variety of non-reciprocal 

purposes, however, the County's effort to draw the distinction 

urged in its brief must fail. Requiring the lqpublic'l to 
reimburse a discharged defendant for an item of costs f o r  which 

the "public" is reimbursed by a convicted defendant is a proper 

application of the concept of mutuality. 

B .  The issue was not preserved below. 

Sawyer also contends that the County's failure to raise or 

to argue below the bookkeeping distinction now urged on this 

court is fatal to its argument on this point. Initially, Sawyer 

sought to establish his reimbursable costs within the context of 

his criminal case. The criminal division of the Pinellas County 

Circuit Court awarded him his 'ltraditional'l costs, but refused 

to certify the investigative costs. Sawyer sought review in the 

Second District, and in its opinion the appellate court directed 

that the procedures in Pinellas County for taxation of costs in 

favor of an acquitted or discharged defendant be substantially 

revised. Sawyer v. State, 570 So. 2d 410 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) and 

Clark v. State, 570 So. 2d 408 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). At that 

time, the Second District expressed no opinion on the issue of 

whether Sawyer was legally entitled to be reimbursed for his 

investigative expenses as an item of taxable costs. However, 
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the opinion is clear that the County was the governmental entity 

to which Sawyer would be looking for reimbursement if such was 

awarded, and that source of funds w a s  never challenged in the 

proceeding. 

Thereafter, Sawyer brought suit against the County for the 

investigative costs now in dispute. The proceedings in the 

trial court culminated in the Final Summary Judgment for the 

County which was reversed by the Second District in the opinion 

now under review. In the lower court proceedings, the issue was 

joined solely on the legal question: is a non-indigent 

acquitted or discharged defendant entitled to be reimbursed for 

his investigative expenses as an item of taxable costs aqainst 

the County? See memoranda of law filed by the parties in the 

trial court, R 10-20 and R 21-28. Neither the legal memoranda 

nor the trial court's orders make reference to any fiscal 

distinction between a county and other public entities. 

In its appeal to the Second District, as the opinion itself 

makes clear, this fiscal distinction again was neither raised 

nor argued. It is raised for the first time in these prolonged 

proceedings by way of the County's brief in this Court. Thus, 

neither the trial court nor the district court has ever been 

given the opportunity to consider the argument now put forth as 

determinative by the County. 

It is an elementary principle of appellate practice that new 

arguments raising new issues cannot be injected into a 

proceeding at the appellate level. As this Court stated a few 
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years ago: 

In order to be preserved for further review by 
a higher court, an issue must be presented to 
the lower court and the specific leqal 
argument or qround to be argued on appeal or 
review must be part of that presentation if it 
is to be considered preserved. 

Tillman v. State, 471 So. 2d 32, 3 5  (Fla. 1 9 8 5 )  (e.s.). See 

a l so  Perkins v. Scott, 554  So. 2d 1220 ,  1 2 2 2  (Fla. 2d DCA 1 9 9 0 ) ;  

- cf. Universal Underwriters I n s .  v. Morrison, 574  So. 2d 1063,  

1065 (Fla. 1990) (the "claim for coverage . . , was squarely 

addressed in the legal memorandum submitted to the trial judge 

in opposition to the motion for summary judgment. It was also 

clearly argued before the district court of appeal and before 

this Court. ) . 
Sawyer submits that under Tillman, supra, the County has 

failed to preserve the issue (Issue I) it raises for  the first 

time in its brief to this Court. 
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ISSUE I1 

THE SECOND DISTRICT'S OPINION, WHICH RELIES ON 

ESTABLISHED PRINCIPLES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION TO 

REIMBURSE A DISCHARGED CRIMINAL DEFENDANT FOR AN ITEM OF 

COSTS FOR WHICH A CONVICTED DEFENDANT CAN BE ASSESSED, 

DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN "UNREASONABLE EXTENSION" OF THE 

DEFINITION OF TAXABLE COSTS WHERE THAT TERM IS UNDEFINED 

IN THE STATUTE. 

A. The definition of "taxable costs1t was implicitly expanded by 

the 1987 amendment. 

"Taxable costs" awardable to a discharged defendant under 

Section 939.06, Florida Statutes (1991), must be defined as 

including "investigative expenses" since those are now included 

as ttcostst' against a convicted defendant and in favor of the 

prevailing authorities under amended Section 939.01, Florida 

Statutes (1991). 

In 1987, the Florida legislature amended Section 939.01, 

Florida Statutes, as follows: 

(1) In all criminal cases -e€ eewkthrt for 
crirae the costs of prosecution, includinq 
investiqative costs incur red by law 
enforcement agencies, and by fire departments 
for  arson investigations, if requested and 
documented by such aqencies, shall be included 
and entered up in the judgment rendered 
against the convicted person. 
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Ch. 87-243, S47, Laws of Fla., effective date October 1, 1987. 
[standard usage of underlining for new matter, stricken through 
for words omitted]. 

Section 939.01, Florida Statutes (1991), is part of Chapter 

939 entitled flCosts,fl which deals in general with the award of 

costs to either party in criminal litigation. Sections 939.06 

and 939.07 provide for the reimbursement of "taxable costs" to 

an acquitted or discharged defendant. Nowhere in Chapter 939 is 

there a definition of either "the costs of prosecution" or 

"taxable costs,11 except for the specification of certain 

expenses as reimbursable costs in Section 939.07. The 
determination of what items are includable and what items are 

excludable has been left to the courts. See e.q. Holton V. 

State, 311 So. 2d 711 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975). 

It is clear that the long-standing general policy of the 

state is a defendant fo r  the expenses of criminal 

defense if he is successful in the criminal prosecution, Art. I, 

519, Fla. Const. (1968) and Art. XVI, S9, Fla. Const. (1885), 

preserved by Art. XII, § l o ,  Fla. Const. (1968); Lillibridqe v. 

City of Miami, 276 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 1973). Not all such expenses 

are reimbursable, however, Doran v. State, 296 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 

2d DCA 1974). 

to reimburse 

Sawyer concedes that under the case law construing Chapter 

939 as it existed prior to the 1987 amendment, the investigative 

expenses of an acquitted or discharged defendant were not 

reimbursable, Benitez v.  State, 350 So. 2d 1100 (Fla. 3d DCA 

1977), followed in Osceola Co. v. Otte, 530 So. 2d 478 (Fla. 5th 

DCA 1988); the cited cases are those upon which the trial court 



relied in denying Sawyer's request for reimbursement of 

a investigative costs, see Order, R 30. 

The various sections of Florida Statutes must be read in 

pari materia to determine if they shed light on the appropriate 

elements of taxable costs, whether awarded in favor of the 

prosecution against a convicted defendant, or in favor of an 

acquitted or discharged defendant against the unsuccessful 

prosecution. In Powell v. State, 314 So. 2d 788 (Fla. 2d DCA 

19751, the district court held that the reimbursement of a non- 

indigent criminal defendant for expert witness fees was 

appropriate, because Section 939.07, Florida Statutes (19731, 

allowed generic "witness fees" to the acquitted or discharged 

defendant and because the prosecution could tax reasonable 

compensation of - its expert witnesses as costs against a 

convicted defendant under Section 914.06, Florida Statutes 

(1973). The witness fee reimbursement statute, Section 939.07 

' 
itself, however, did not specifically provide for such expert 

Compensation. 

Section 939.06, Florida Statutes (1991), refers to "taxable 

costs," without definition. Section 939.01, Florida Statutes 

(1991), refers to costs as specifically including "investigative 

costs.'' Sawyer successfully contended in the district court 

that the definitional aspects of that inclusion (in Section 

939.01) must apply to the "costs'' in Section 939.06 as well: if 

"costs" in one section of a chapter includes such expenses, then 

the same word, 'lcosts,'l in another section of the same chapter 
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must include such expenses as well. 

The County's primary argument against the district court's 

holding rests an its bald assertion of financial ruin which will 

be visited upon the County by requiring it to reimburse 

investigative costs to acquitted and discharged criminal 

defendants. Sawyer suggests that the imposition of costs 
against the government in a losing prosecution deters unfounded 

prosecution and serves the salutary public purpose of 

encouraging responsible charging decisions. The government, 
after all, just like any other plaintiff, chooses to initiate 

the litigation. And, when that decision results in a losing 

effort against a citizen who had no choice in the matter, it is 

only fair - as in other litigation - to require the losing side 

to reimburse the successful one. To assess a given item of 

costs in favor of the government if it wins, but not in favor of 

the accused citizen if he or she wins, serves to encourage 

unfounded prosecutions - surely not a result consistent with 

established Florida public policy. 

In addition, the County put forth no statistics or other 

evidence in the trial court to support its argument that the 

financial resources of Pinellas county would be unduly burdened 

by the Second District's ruling in favor of Sawyer. In fact, 

very few criminal charges actually filed result in dismissals, 

nolle prosequis, or acquittals; the various state attorneys 
boast regularly of conviction rates well in excess of 90%. Even 

fewer cases involve non-indigent defendants who have incurred 
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significant investigative expenses prior to their legal 

0 discharge. An issue of elemental fairness must not be 
determined on the basis of unsupported allegations of 

"staggering expense. I' 

This Court and others have ruled courageously in a number of 

recent cases that legislative failure properly to fund the 

criminal justice system is insufficient justification far 
judicial failure to preserve Floridians' rights. See e.q. White 

v. Board of County Commissioners of Pinellas County, 5 3 7  So. 2d 

1376 (Fla. Sawyer urges the Court to exercise that same 

courage in affirming the Second District here. 

1989). 

B. Principles of equal protection require the Second District's 

holdinq. 

Unless the 1987 amendment expands the definition of taxable 

criminal litigation costs bilaterally, the amendment is 

unconstitutional. Art. I, SS2 and 9, Fla. Const.(1968); 

Amendments V and XIV, U.S. Const. This alternative ground for 

upholding the Second District's ruling was argued, but not 

decided by that court, see A 4. [See also brief filed in support 

of Respondent by FACDL as amicus curiae]. 

Traditionally, investigative expenses have not been 

considered costs taxable against a convicted criminal defendant. 

See in general 65 ALR 2d 854, Annotation: Items of costs of 

prosecution for which defendant may be held. And, as noted at 

p.18, supra,  Florida case law has not previously allowed 
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investigative costs to be taxed in favor of an exonerated 

defendant. To determine if such a non-traditional item of costs 

can be constitutionally awarded by statute unilaterally, an 

examination of another non-traditional cost item, attorneys' 

fees, may prove instructive. 

As noted, attorneys' fees are a lso  not a traditional element 

of costs in either criminal or civil litigation. See 12 Fla Jur 

2d, Costs S31; Goldberq v. County of Dade, 378 So. 2d 1242 (Fla. 

3d DCA 1980). However, such fees are often allowed as taxable 

costs by statute in certain circumstances. Most commonly, these 

statutes require reciprocity, that is, attorneys' fees are 

assessed against the losing party and in favor of the prevailing 

party, regardless of which party initiated the litigation. 

Where statutes award attorneys' fees only to a prevailing 

plaintiff, the courts have upheld the statutes against 

constitutional challenge (on equal protection or due process 

grounds) only if there is a llrational purposef1 or strong public 

policy reason supporting the discrimination. See in general 73 

ALR 3d 515, Annotation: Validity of statute allowinq attorney's 

fees to successful claimant but not to defendant or vice versa. 

F o r  example, in Florida, a property owner may be subject to an 

unilateral assessment of attorneys' fees if it unsuccessfully 

defends a lawsuit brought by a laborer's lien claimant, Hunter 

v. Flowers, 4 3  So. 2d 435 (Fla. 1949), because there is a strong 

public policy in favor of encouraging settlement of such claims. 

Where fees are awarded unilaterally (i.e. to a prevailing 
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plaintiff but not to a prevailing defendant), the award is 

generally made to the weaker party - an individual litigant 
suing a government agency or corporation, for example. See 73 

ALR 3d, supra; Murphy v. Amoco Production C o . ,  729 F. 2d 552 

(8th Cir. 1984) (upholding a unilateral North Dakota attorneys' 

fee provision against equal protection challenge on ground that 

the provision is an incentive f o r  the superior party to settle); 

State ex rel. Kidwell v. U . S .  Marketinq, I n c . ,  631 P. 2d 6 2 2  

(Idaho 1981) (unilateral attorneys' fee provision is 

constitutional where it furthers a legitimate governmental 

objective). 

0 

An important rule of statutory construction applicable under 

Florida case law is that a court must construe a statute, if 

possible, in such a way as to avoid successful Constitutional 

challenge, 49 Fla. Jur. 2d, Statutes S113 and cases cited. If 

the investigative costs provision in Section 939.01, Florida 

Statutes (1991), is interpreted to be unilateral only, i.e. the 

successful government may assess investigative expenses against 

a losing (convicted) defendant, but a successful (acquitted or 

discharged) defendant may not assess investigative expenses 

against the government, then the provision itself is open to 

constitutional attack on due process and equal protection 

grounds. 

In the case of investigative expenses, it would be difficult 

the award to imagine a "rational purpose" for discriminating in 

of this item of costs, awarding such costs to the government 
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after a successful prosecution but not awarding them to the 

discharged citizen after an unsuccessful prosecution. By all 

measures, the citizen is the weaker party, facing the powerful 

forces of government; the citizen has not initiated the 

litigation of which he becomes the economic victim; and surely 

deterrence of unfounded prosecutions is the policy of the State 

of Florida. 

In sum, were this Court to hold that the legislature 

"intended" only a unilateral award of investigative costs, then 

the 1987 amendment to Section 939.01, Florida Statutes (1991), 

must ultimately be held unconstitutional on equal protection and 

due process grounds under both the federal and state 

constitutions. 

C. Florida public policy requires reciprocity in the award of 

litisation costs. 

It is generally the public policy of the State of Florida to 

award costs to either prevailing party. The Second District 
also relied in part on this principle for its decision, see A 3 .  

The general cost statutes governing Florida civil litigation 

provide mutuality or reciprocity of awards, see §57.041,  Fla. 

Stat. (1991) (traditional costs awarded to either prevailing 

party) and 557.105, Fla. Stat. (1991) (attorneys' fees as an 

element of taxable costs awarded to either prevailing party if 

the action or defense is patently insupportable). So far as 

Sawyer can determine, there are no statutes awarding traditional - 
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costs only to a prevailing plaintiff or a prevailing defendant, 

and, as previously noted, the statutes which award attorneys' 

fees as an item of costs only to a prevailing plaintiff or only 

to a prevailing defendant apply exclusively to situations in 

which doing so either fosters a particular public policy or 

there is a rational purpose for the discrimination. 

Illustrative of the fact that the public policy of the state 

favors mutuality or reciprocity in the area of taxation of 

litigation costs is the amendment to Section 57.105(2), Florida 

Statutes (1991), dealing with awards of attorneys' fees based on 

contract. After several cases held that a contract provision 

for fees in the event of litigation need not be mutual to be 

enforceable in a private contract, see e.g. Edward L. Nezelek, 

Inc., v. G.E. Drywall, Inc., 406 So. 2d 1220 (Fla. 4th DCA 

1981); Cheek v. McGowan Elec. Supply Co., 511 So. 2d 977 (Fla. 

1987), the Florida legislature adopted a statute requiring that 

every contract in which only one party can be awarded fees after 

successful litigation on the contract is deemed to allow either 

party to the contract to collect such fees if it prevails, Ch. 

88-160, Laws of Fla., amending 857.105, Fla. Stat. (1987). 

The legislature has insisted on strict mutuality in specific 

areas of criminal costs as well. In 1985, when it revised 

Section 27.34(2) and Section 27.54(3), Florida Statutes (19831, 

to require the county to reimburse both the state attorney's 

office and the public defender's office for the casts of copies 

of depositions in successful convictions, for example, it also 
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revised Section 939.07, Florida Statutes ( 1 9 8 3 1 ,  to provide that 

the costs of copies of depositions be reimbursed to a discharged 

01: acquitted defendant as well, Ch. 85-213, §§l, 4, and 7, L a w s  

of Fla. As the Second District implied in Powell v. State, 314 

So. 2d 788 (Fla. 2d DCA 1 9 7 5 ) ,  fairness and the public policy of 

the State of Florida require that reciprocity apply in the 

determination of what costs are taxable in a criminal 

prosecution: if a particular item of costs is taxable against a 

convicted defendant, then that item must also be taxable in 

favor of an acquitted or discharged defendant. 
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ISSUE I11 

THE DECISIONS RENDERED BY THE THIRD AND FIFTH DISTRICTS, 

WHICH FAIL TO CONSIDER THE 1987 STATUTORY AMENDMENT 

ENLARGING THE DEFINITION OF TAXABLE COSTS IN CRIMINAL 

MATTERS, ARE NOT RELEVANT OR PERSUASIVE PRECEDENT IN 

THIS CASE. 

Neither of the two cases cited by the County as having 

precedential value in the case under review are relevant to the 

core issue: Does the 1987 amendment to Section 939.01, Florida 

Statutes (1991), require reinterpretation of Section 939.06 in 

determining what costs are taxable in favor of an acquitted or 

discharged defendant? 

The decision in Benitez v. State, 350 So. 2d 1100 (Fla. 3d 

DCA 1977) preceded the amendment in question. Its reasoning 

therefore is not helpful, since it relied on the lack of any 

statutory authority for reimbursement of investigative costs to 

either criminal party-litigant. 

Indeed, the court in Benitez seemed to believe that if it 

included an acquitted defendant's investigative costs within the 

meaning of "taxable costs," it would have to include 

reasonable and necessary costs. However, a convicted defendant 

is not taxed with all "reasonable and necessary costs" today, 
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but only with those spelled out in chapter 9 3 9  and developed by 

case law. And Sawyer is not seeking reimbursement of costs  

other than those having a statutory basis. 

The decision in Osceola County v. Otte, 530 So. 2d 478 (Fla. 

5th DCA 1988) was rendered a little less than a year after the 

effective date of the amendment in question. Thz issue before 

the Fifth District, however, dealt with whether a post-acquittal 

determination of indigency could retroactively allow a 

previously determined non-indigent defendant to obtain 

reimbursement of his investigative costs. The district court 

took as a "given'! that investigative costs for a nan-indigent 

acquitted defendant were not reimbursable, relying on Benitez, 

supra. The opinion makes no reference whatsoever to the then- 

recent statutory amendment, and therefore one must assume that 

issue was never raised. 

The County's reference to Mitchum v. State, 251 So. 2d 298, 

300 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971), PB 10, in connection with Osceola 

County is puzzling, since Mitchum deals with a trial court's 

taking judicial notice, without the need for expert testimony, 

of whether certain materials are obscene. Sawyer concedes that 

all courts in the State of Florida are expected to "know" the 

statutes. However, the issue presented here is whether an 

amendment to a statute affects the interpretation of another 

part of the statute. That is not a matter for judicial notice, 

but rather must be raised and argued by the appellate parties 

before any reviewing court can be expected to address the 
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question. Indeed, decidins an issi - e not raised or briefed may 

0 well be beyond the scope of appellate review entirely. There is 

no basis to assume that the district court in Osceola County 

considered or addressed the impact of the 1987 statute. 

As was stated by the Second District below, see A 4, neither

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